### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## **RECEIVED**

## COURT OF APPEALS 05-07-2018

**DISTRICT III** 

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2018AP000313-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DEVON MAURICE BOWSER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Douglas County Circuit Court, the Honorable George L. Glonek Presiding.

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATHILYNNE A. GROTELUESCHEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085045 grotelueschenk@opd.wi.gov

ELLEN J. KRAHN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085024 krahne@opd.wi.gov

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion when it refused to vacate the entire plea agreement and instead granted Mr. Bowser's pre-sentence plea withdrawal motion as to only one charge?

The circuit court found that Mr. Bowser presented a fair and just reason for plea withdrawal and granted Mr. Bowser partial plea withdrawal by allowing him to withdraw his guilty plea in another case while denying his request to withdraw his guilty pleas in the case now before the court.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is requested. The briefs should adequately set forth the arguments and publication is likely unwarranted, as the issue presented can be decided on the basis of well-established law.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

On May 24, 2016, the state charged Mr. Bowser with one count of delivery of heroin (<=3G), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(1)(d)1., and one count of felony bail jumping, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(b), in Douglas County Case 16-CF-198. (1).

The criminal complaint alleged that Mr. Bowser sold heroin to a confidential informant, CRI16-003. (1:1-2). It was also alleged that Mr. Bowser was on bond in Douglas County Case 16-CF-11<sup>1</sup> at the time of the sale. (1:3).

Subsequently, on October 31, 2016, Mr. Bowser entered into a plea agreement that resolved both case 16-CF-11 and case 16-CF-189. (52:2). Specifically, Mr. Bowser agreed to plead guilty to Count 1 in 16-CF-11 and Counts 1 and 2 in 16-CF-189. (52:2). In exchange, the state agreed to dismiss and read in Counts 2, 3, and 4 in 16-CF-11, and to cap its sentencing recommendations in each case. (52:2). After a colloquy, the court accepted Mr. Bowser's guilty pleas, ordered that a presentence investigation report be prepared, and set the matters over for sentencing. (52:2-9).

Prior to sentencing, however, Mr. Bowser filed a motion to withdraw his guilty pleas. (20). Mr. Bowser sought to withdraw his guilty pleas in both cases based upon new information and additional discovery that he received after the plea hearing. (20:1-2). Specifically, Mr. Bowser alleged that the confidential informant in 16-CF-11 mailed a notarized letter to the state and Mr. Bowser's attorney indicating that he had lied to the police about Mr. Bowser's involvement in the controlled buys and that Mr. Bowser was not the individual who sold him heroin. (20:2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to Wisconsin Circuit Court Access (WCCA) records, a complaint was filed on January 11, 2016, in Douglas County Case 16-CF-11, charging Mr. Bowser with one count of manufacture/deliver heroin (<3g), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(1)(d)1., and three counts of falsely present noncontrolled substance, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(4)(am)1a.

The motion to withdraw guilty pleas was set for an evidentiary hearing at which the recanting confidential informant, Justin Schiffer, testified. (46). Mr. Schiffer testified that he never worked with, or completed controlled buys for, the Douglas County Drug Task Force. (46:13-14, 21-22). He also testified that he did not know who Mr. Bowser was and that he never participated in a photo lineup with law enforcement to identify Mr. Bowser as the individual he purchased heroin from. (46:14). Mr. Schiffer refused to answer any questions regarding the letter that he wrote, invoking his Fifth Amendment rights. (46:15-18).

Law enforcement officers also testified at the hearing. They testified that Mr. Schiffer had worked with them as a confidential informant and completed controlled buys on the dates of the offenses charged in 16-CF-11. (46:30-58). The notarized letter written by Mr. Schiffer was received into evidence and a detective testified that Mr. Schiffer informed him that he had lied in the letter when he stated that he did not purchase heroin from Mr. Bowser. (46:32, 34-38; 27).

At the conclusion of the motion hearing, trial counsel argued that he had met the burden of proving that a fair and just reason existed for Mr. Bowser to withdraw his guilty pleas. (46:61-63; App. 103). When asked why Mr. Bowser should be allowed to withdraw his pleas in 16-CF-189, trial counsel explained that the pleas in both cases "were a package deal," and were taken at the same time. (46:63; App. 105). The following exchange then occurred:

THE COURT: There was no plea deal. That's why we have a PSI and argued sentence, don't we?

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: Well, I mean, there is -- there was an agreement to dismiss charges on parts of these

cases -- or parts of these -- at least one of these cases in exchange for his plea, some charges are dismissed.

(46:63; App. 105). In regards to whether there was a plea agreement, the prosecutor, in his argument, acknowledging that he was not the attorney who made the offer, stated his understanding was that the plea offer was that Mr. Bowser would plead to the charges, there would be a PSI, and the state would cap at the midpoint of the PSI. (46:67; App. 109).

Ultimately, the circuit court found that Mr. Bowser had established a fair and just reason to withdraw his guilty plea in 16-CF-11, but not in 16-CF-189. (46:69; App. 111). In explaining its decision, the circuit court stated:

The standard to withdraw a plea before sentencing is less stringent than that after sentencing.

Basically what the law says is that the Court should freely allow a Defendant to withdraw a plea before sentencing for any fair and just reason, unless the prosecution would be substantially prejudiced.

I haven't heard any particular argument about substantial prejudice to the prosecution.

And I think based upon the number of versions of statements given by Mr. Schiffer, obvious issues of credibility, even with regard to this testimony here today, and him being the informant on these buys, that the Court - - and the fact that I'm going to freely allow the withdrawal of a plea if there's a fair and just reason, I think at least with regard to 16-CF-11, on Count 1, that that's been established

So I will - - so I will allow Mr. Bowser to withdraw his plea on Count 1 in 16-CF-11.

But I do not see that there's any basis in the record for this Court to allow Mr. Bowser to withdraw his pleas in 16-CF-189. Those were separate incidents, separate informant, and I don't believe there's been any testimony here today from which I can make a finding that there's been a fair and just reason for Mr. Bowser to withdraw his plea in that file.

(46:69; App. 111). The circuit court then proceeded to reinstate the charges that had been dismissed and read in as part of the plea agreement and all of the charges in 16-CF-11 were set for trial.<sup>2</sup> (46:70; App. 112).

Mr. Bowser was later sentenced to a total of nine years imprisonment in 16-CF-189, as five years of initial confinement and four years of extended supervision on Count 1, and two years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision on Count 2, concurrent to Count 1. (31; App. 101).

This appeal follows. (40).

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Circuit Court Erroneously Exercised Its Discretion When It Failed To Vacate The Plea Agreement In Its Entirety And Return The Parties To Their Pre-Plea Positions.

Mr. Bowser presented a fair and just reason for plea withdrawal and the circumstances demanded that the entire plea agreement be vacated and the parties be restored to their pre-plea positions. The circuit court erroneously exercised its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> According to Wisconsin Circuit Court Access (WCCA) the charges in 16-CF-11 were dismissed on the state's motion on May 10, 2017.

discretion when it concluded that there was no global plea agreement, applied the wrong legal standard, and failed to consider the totality of the circumstances in the case. Weighing the parties' interests, and considering the circumstances as they then existed, in determining the proper remedy for Mr. Bowser's repudiation of the plea agreement reveals that Mr. Bowser's pre-sentence motion to withdraw his guilty pleas in this case should have been granted.

Prior to sentencing, a "defendant should be allowed to withdraw a guilty plea for any fair and just reason, unless the prosecution would be substantially prejudiced." *State v. Canedy*, 161 Wis. 2d 565, 582, 469 N.W.2d 163 (1991). While pre-sentence plea withdrawal should be freely allowed, it is not guaranteed. *State v. Jenkins*, 2007 WI 96, ¶¶28-32, 303 Wis. 2d 157, 736 N.W.2d 24. "The defendant has the burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he has a fair and just reason," which "must be something other than the desire to have a trial or belated misgivings about the plea." *Id.* ¶32 (internal citations omitted).

Successful withdrawal of a guilty plea entered pursuant to a plea agreement, however, constitutes a material and substantial breach of that plea agreement if the withdrawal defeats a benefit of the agreement for the non-breaching party. *State v. Robinson*, 2002 WI 9, ¶47, 249 Wis. 2d 553, 638 N.W.2d 564 (overruled on other grounds by *State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886); *State v. Deilke*, 2004 WI 104, ¶14, 274 Wis. 2d 595, 682 N.W.2d 945.

"Wisconsin case law clearly holds that a defendant's repudiation of a portion of the plea agreement constitutes a repudiation of the entire plea agreement." *State v. Lange*, 2003 WI App 2, ¶32, 259 Wis. 2d 774, 656 N.W.2d 480. The

appropriate remedy in such a circumstance, ordinarily, is to vacate the negotiated plea agreement and reinstate the original charges. *Robinson*, 2002 WI 9, ¶48. "But the appropriate remedy depends on the totality of the circumstances. A [circuit] court must examine all of the circumstances of a case to determine an appropriate remedy for that case, considering both the defendant's and State's interests." *Id*.

The circuit court's choice of remedy for a plea breach – withdrawal from all or part of the plea agreement – is an exercise of discretion which this court reviews under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *State v. Roou*, 2007 WI App 193, ¶13, 305 Wis. 2d 164, 738 N.W.2d 173. Under that standard, this court will uphold a circuit court's decision unless the record shows that the circuit court did not exercise its discretion, the facts do not support the circuit court's decision, or the circuit court applied the wrong legal standard. *Id*. ¶14.

A. The facts do not support the circuit court's decision and the circuit court failed to apply the correct legal standard in determining the remedy for Mr. Bowser's plea breach.

Contrary to the circuit court's findings, the parties had reached a plea agreement encompassing both 16-CF-11 and 16-CF-189. As the parties had reached a global plea agreement, the question for the circuit court was not whether Mr. Bowser had presented a fair and just reason for plea withdrawal in each case, but rather, whether partial or total plea withdrawal should be granted under the totality of the circumstances. The circuit court failed to apply the correct legal standard in this case and the facts do not support its choice of remedy. Accordingly, the circuit court's denial of

Mr. Bowser's motion to withdraw his guilty pleas in this case must be reversed and the judgment of conviction vacated.

Although it did not specifically say so in its ruling, the circuit court's analysis of the plea withdrawal motion demonstrates that it concluded that there was no global plea agreement. Initially, the circuit court stated that there was no plea agreement at all: "There was no plea deal. That's why we have a PSI and argued sentence, don't we?" (46:63; App. 105). Nevertheless, by reinstating the charges that were dismissed and read in, the court seemed to acknowledge that, at least in 16-CF-11, there was a negotiated agreement. The circuit court's analysis of the fair and just reason standard, treating each case differently, shows that it did not consider there to be a global plea agreement. This conclusion that the plea agreement did not encompass both cases, however, is contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence.

As counsel pointed out at the motion hearing, Mr. Bowser's guilty pleas on each case were taken at the same time. (46:63; App. 105). This was "a package deal." (46:63; App. 105). The state agreed to dismiss and read in three felony charges in 16-CF-11, in exchange for Mr. Bowser's guilty pleas to two felonies in 16-CF-189 and one felony in 16-CF-11. (52:2). Mr. Bowser's three convictions stemmed from a single agreement, accepted and entered into at the plea hearing on October 31, 2016. Only one plea questionnaire containing both case numbers was submitted and only one plea colloquy was conducted. (15; 52). A conviction in just 16-CF-11 was not enough for the state, as demonstrated by Mr. Bowser's simultaneous guilty pleas in this case. See Lange, 2003 WI App 2, ¶35-36. The disposition of both cases was encompassed in a single agreement.

In *State v. Lange* this court found that the parties had a singular, global plea agreement despite the fact that the defendant entered guilty pleas in two separate cases, before two different judges, on two different dates. *Id.* ¶¶9-10, 35-36. In that case the parties agreed that the defendant would enter no contest pleas to one count in each case he had pending and the remaining charges in both cases would be dismissed and read in. *Id.* ¶9. This court found that the fact that the convictions were contained in multiple judgments of conviction did not alter the analysis and that a withdrawal of the defendant's plea in one case may warrant vacating the judgments of conviction in both. Id. ¶¶36-37. Just as in Lange, the state's need for a conviction in both of Mr. Bowser's cases caused them to be interconnected and demonstrates that this was a global plea agreement which should have been vacated in its entirety. See Id. ¶¶35-36.

The circuit court's erroneous conclusion that the cases were not part of a global plea agreement caused it to apply the wrong legal principles in determining whether Mr. Bowser's guilty pleas in this case should be withdrawn. Rather than considering the totality of the circumstances or the interests of the parties, the circuit court applied only the fair and just reason analysis for pre-sentencing plea withdrawal. After finding that Mr. Bowser established that a fair and just reason for plea withdrawal existed, the circuit court determined that it only existed in relation to the plea in 16-CF-11. (46:69; App. 111). The circuit court noted that the cases involved separate incidents and separate confidential informants. (46:69; App. 111). It then found that Mr. Bowser had not presented a fair and just reason to withdraw his guilty pleas in this case. (46:69; App. 111).

While deference is given to a circuit court's exercise of discretion, the exercise of discretion "contemplates a process of reasoning which depends on facts in the record or reasonably derived by inference from the record that yield a conclusion based on logic and founded on proper legal standards." See State v. Delgado, 223 Wis. 2d 270, 280, 588 N.W.2d 1 (1999). Here, the circuit court failed to consider the totality of the circumstances or the interests of either party when it fashioned its remedy. The circuit court did not conduct the necessary and appropriate legal analysis and, as such, its decision to vacate only the guilty plea in 16-CF-11, leaving the pleas in this case intact, was clearly erroneous. Accordingly, this court should vacate the judgment of conviction and withdraw Mr. Bowser's guilty pleas, remanding the case to the circuit court for further proceedings.

B. Review of the record demonstrates that the appropriate remedy, under the circumstances and considering the interests at stake, was to vacate the entire plea agreement and allow withdrawal of the guilty pleas in this case.

Mr. Bowser's successful withdrawal of his guilty plea in 16-CF-11 was a material and substantial breach of the negotiated plea agreement. *See State v. Pohlhammer*, 78 Wis. 2d 516, 524, 254 N.W.2d 478 (1977)("Invalidating the plea invalidates the plea bargain."). The appropriate remedy for Mr. Bowser's repudiation of the plea agreement was vacating the plea agreement in its entirety and returning the parties to their pre-plea positions.

When the circuit court found that there was a fair and just reason for plea withdrawal and allowed Mr. Bowser to withdraw his plea in 16-CF-11, the basis on which the state

had entered the plea agreement had substantially changed. *See Robinson*, 2002 WI 9, ¶47. Rather than having secured three convictions with a total exposure of 31 years in prison, the state had two convictions with a maximum sentence of 18½ years in prison. Mr. Bowser's successful withdrawal of one guilty plea was a material and substantial breach of the plea agreement, requiring the circuit court to consider the totality of the circumstances and balance the interests of the parties in fashioning the appropriate remedy. *Roou*, 2007 WI App 193, ¶¶22-23.

Mr. Bowser was initially charged with six felonies in two separate criminal cases. Both cases involved allegations that Mr. Bowser delivered heroin, or other substances, to confidential informants. Moreover, Mr. Bowser was released on a signature bond in the first case when he allegedly committed the offense in the second case. These cases were significantly related and, if requested by the state, could have been tried together as the evidence in one case would have been admissible in the other case. Rather than have a trial, however, the parties agreed to resolve both cases through a plea agreement. As agreed, Mr. Bowser pled guilty to Count 1 in 16-CF-11 and Counts 1 and 2 in 16-CF-189, in exchange for Counts 2, 3, and 4 of 16-CF-11 being dismissed and read in and the state capping its sentencing recommendations.

Both parties made concessions and received benefits in this negotiated plea agreement. Mr. Bowser initially faced six felony charges which he bargained down to three, decreasing his prison exposure from 41½ years to 31 years, in exchange for relinquishing his constitutional right to a jury trial in each case. The state, on the other hand, gave up its ability to prosecute and obtain a conviction on three felony counts in exchange for Mr. Bowser's guilty pleas on the other three felony counts. Under the agreement, the state secured

three felony convictions with significant prison exposure without the time and expense of a trial.

By withdrawing Mr. Bowser's guilty plea in 16-CF-11, and reinstating the dismissed and read in charges, the circuit court left Mr. Bowser exposed to additional convictions and more prison time than he bargained for. At the same time, the circuit court put the state in a better position than it bargained for. The state retained the benefit of the two convictions in this case and gained the opportunity to convict Mr. Bowser of four additional felonies, with the possibility of a significantly longer overall sentence. The state retained the benefit of the plea agreement without the cost – it secured the two convictions in this case through Mr. Bowser's waiver of his right to a jury trial, without having to forgo its right to prosecute the charges in 16-CF-11.

The totality of the circumstances required that the entire plea agreement be vacated and the parties be placed in their pre-plea positions. Any other remedy would ignore the interests at stake. Mr. Bowser gave up his constitutional rights in this case in exchange for a significant reduction in the number of convictions and prison time he faced. When the circuit court granted withdrawal in 16-CF-11 and reinstated all of the charges in that case, the only benefit of the plea agreement that Mr. Bowser was left with was the state's agreement to cap its sentence recommendation in this case. (52:3). The circuit court's failure to vacate the entire plea agreement placed the state in a much better, and Mr. Bowser in a much worse, position than each had been in prior to the negotiated plea agreement.

The fact that the state later chose to dismiss the entirety of 16-CF-11 does not change this analysis. That fact was not known at the time of the motion hearing. In fact, the

state adamantly requested that the previously dismissed and read in counts be reinstated and all were set over for a jury trial. (46:70; App. 112). Moreover, the statute of limitations has not yet run and the charges could be filed again.

Under the totality of the circumstances, and weighing the parties' interests as they existed at the time of the hearing, the appropriate remedy for Mr. Bowser's successful plea withdrawal motion was to undo the entire plea agreement and restore the parties to their pre-plea positions. Consequently, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied Mr. Bowser's motion for plea withdrawal as to this case and the judgment of conviction must be vacated.

### **CONCLUSION**

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