## **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-27-2018

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP313-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DEVON MAURICE BOWSER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN DOUGLAS COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE GEORGE L. GLONEK PRESIDING.

# BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

ROBERT G. PROBST Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1063075

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying Bowser's motion for plea withdrawal in Douglas County case 16-CF-189.

## A. Applicable legal principles

A defendant seeking to with draw a guilty or no contest plea prior to sentencing must show that there is a "fair and just reason" for allowing him to withdraw the plea. *State v. Kivioja*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The circuit court denied Bowser's motion as to Douglas County case number 16-CF-189 because that case did not involve Schiffer. (*See* R. 46:69.) However, it does not appear that it was presented with Bowser's argument that it misunderstood the "global" nature of the plea agreement when denying the motion as to the 16-CF-189 case, and his corresponding claim that the only appropriate remedy is wholesale plea withdrawal. (*See* R. 20:1–3.) Consequently, this Court could reject Bowser's appeal because he failed to properly and completely raise his claim below. *See State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 ("It is a fundamental principle of appellate review that issues must be preserved at the circuit court.").

225 Wis. 2d 271, 283, 592 N.W.2d 220 (1999). A fair and just reason contemplates the mere showing of some adequate reason for defendant's change of heart, other than the desire to have a trial. *State v. Bollig*, 2000 WI 6, ¶ 29, 232 Wis. 2d 561, 605 N.W.2d 199.

Withdrawal of a guilty plea before sentencing is not an absolute right. State v. Canedy, 161 Wis. 2d 565, 582–83, 469 N.W.2d 163 (1991). Although plea withdrawal should be freely allowed before sentencing, freely does not mean automatically. State v. Garcia, 192 Wis. 2d 845, 861, 532 N.W.2d 111 (1995). Wisconsin has distinguished itself from jurisdictions that hold that "any desire to withdraw the plea before sentencing is 'fair and just' as long as the prosecution would not be prejudiced." Canedy, 161 Wis. 2d at 583.

The burden is on the defendant to prove a "fair and just reason" for withdrawal of the plea by a preponderance of the evidence. *Garcia*, 192 Wis. 2d at 862 (citing *Canedy*, 161 Wis. 2d at 584).

On review of the circuit court's decision, this Court applies a deferential, clearly erroneous standard to the circuit court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact, which include the circuit court's credibility determinations. *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157,  $\P$  33. Moreover, in reviewing factual determinations as part of a review of discretion, this court looks to whether the circuit court has examined the relevant facts and whether the court's examination is supported by the record. *Id*.

In short, it is within the circuit court's discretion to determine whether a defendant's reason adequately explains his or her change of heart, and this court should affirm the circuit court's decision unless it is an erroneous exercise of that discretion. *Kivioja*, 225 Wis. 2d at 284–87.

# B. The circuit court correctly rejected Bowser's attempt to withdraw his pleas in Douglas County case 16-CF-189 because the basis for his motion applied only to the 16-CF-11 case involving Schiffer.

Bowser argues that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying his motion for plea withdrawal in the 16-CF-189 case. (Bowser's Br. 5–13.) He claims that Wisconsin case law requires that he be allowed to withdraw his pleas in both cases when they were resolved in a global plea agreement. (Bowser's Br. 10–13.)

Bowser is wrong because the "fair and just" reason recognized by the circuit court relates only to the controlled buy underlying the 16-CF-11 case and not the 16-CF-189 case. And though there is case law saying that this Court can review multiple judgments of conviction in the context of a plea withdrawal claim, that case law does not hold that a circuit court must allow total plea withdrawal in a case involving a consolidated plea agreement. Rather, it says that a circuit court should fashion an appropriate remedy in the exercise of its discretion to fit the facts of the case. Compare State v. Lange, 2003 WI App 2, ¶ 32, 259 Wis. 2d 774, 656 N.W.2d 480 ("[A] defendant's repudiation of a portion of the plea agreement constitutes a repudiation of the entire plea agreement.") (citation omitted); State v. Roou, 2007 WI App 193, ¶ 13, 305 Wis. 2d 164, 738 N.W.2d 173. ([A] circuit "court's choice of remedy when faced with a motion to withdraw all or part of a plea agreement should be reviewed under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard.").

Rather, as our Supreme Court observed in *State v. Robinson*, 2002 WI 9, 249 Wis. 2d 553, 638 N.W.2d 564, (overruled on other grounds by *State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886), when confronted with a situation involving a successful motion for plea withdrawal as to one conviction but not another, "under some circumstances, [vacating the sentence imposed and reinstating the original charges] might not be

appropriate." Id. ¶ 3. Instead, "[a] court should . . . examine the remedies available and adopt one that fits the circumstances of the case after considering both the defendant's and the State's interests." Id. Because Schiffer's letter about Bowser had no impact on or connection to his case in 16-CF-189, the circuit court properly concluded that Bowser had not shown a fair and just reason warranting plea withdrawal in that case.

Bowser cites *Lange* in support of his claim that the circuit court erred in not allowing him to withdraw his pleas in both cases, arguing that it's statement that "a defendant's repudiation of a portion of the plea agreement constitutes a repudiation of the entire plea agreement" is controlling in this case. (Bowser's Br. 9, *Lange*, 259 Wis. 2d 774, 32.) But *Lange* does not dictate the outcome of Bowser's plea withdrawal claim because both *Robinson* and *Roou* both make clear that a circuit court properly exercises its discretion in addressing plea withdrawal claims as long as it crafts an appropriate remedy that fits the facts of a particular case.

In *Lange*, this Court was presented with a situation in which a defendant sought plea withdrawal in two cases before two different circuit court judges. *Lange*, 259 Wis. 2d 774,  $\P\P$  5–8. The cases were resolved in a plea agreement. *Id*.  $\P$  8.

On appeal, Lange sought plea withdrawal as to only one of the cases. Id. ¶ 31. The State argued that if Lange were successful in withdrawing his plea in the case he appealed, then the entire plea agreement involving both cases should be invalidated. Id. Lange disagreed, arguing his notice of appeal encompassed only the one case, not both. Id.

This Court concluded that it could reach both cases, even though Lange had not appealed from one of them. Id. ¶ 36. It noted that "when a criminal appeal is taken from a conviction resulting from a plea bargain, it brings before us all of the judgments of conviction . . . even when the appellant attempts to limit our review to only a portion of the judgment of conviction or

order by the way in which the notice of appeal is stated." Id. ¶ 35 (citation omitted). The Court then remanded the matter for a  $Bangert^5$  hearing, concluding that if the State failed to show that Lange's plea was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered, that the circuit court "is authorized to vacate both judgments of conviction and to reinstate the original charges alleged against Lange in both cases." Id. ¶ 37. Thus, Lange recognizes that an appropriate remedy for a defendant's breach can be to vacate the plea agreement and reinstate the original charges. Id.

But that is not the only remedy. The same year, the Wisconsin Supreme Court considered a similar challenge to a plea bargain in Robinson, 249 Wis. 2d 553, ¶ 3. In Robinson, the court addressed what the "appropriate remedy [is] when an accused is convicted on the basis of a negotiated plea agreement and the counts later are determined to be multiplicitous" Id. ¶ 2. The court observed that "ordinarily the remedy is to reverse the convictions and sentences, vacate the plea agreement, and reinstate the original information so that the parties are restored to their positions prior to the negotiated plea agreement." Id. ¶ 3.

However, the *Robinson* court rejected this "ordinary" remedy, concluding that it might not be appropriate in all cases. Id. Rather than only allowing wholesale plea withdrawal when one party breaches a plea agreement, a court should "examine the remedies available and adopt one that fits the circumstances of the case after considering both the defendant's and the State's interest." Id. That way, a circuit court can take into account the actions of the party who caused the breach because the "remedy for a breach of a plea agreement depends on the nature of the breach and the totality of the circumstances." Id. ¶ 19.

After examining those factors, the *Robinson* court determined that the best remedy in a situation in which both

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986).

counts were multiplicitous was for the parties to "be restored to the same positions they respectively held before the defective plea agreement was entered." Id. ¶49. The court concluded that when Robinson successfully withdrew his plea on one of the convictions, the "basis on which the State had entered the plea agreement was substantially changed" because the agreement depended on Robinson pleading guilty to both counts, not just one.  $See\ Id$ . ¶47. As a result, the State came out worse than Robinson because it still performed its duties but was deprived of one of the two guilty pleas Robinson had promised in exchange for performance of those duties. Id.

Thus, Robinson stands for the proposition that vacating the conviction and restoring the original charges against a defendant is not the only remedy available; rather, a court "must examine all of the circumstances of a case to determine an appropriate remedy for that case, considering both the defendant's interests and [the] State's." Id. ¶ 49.

This Court has also validated that approach in Roou, 305 Wis. 2d 164, ¶ 17. In Roou, a defendant successfully moved to withdraw his plea in one case of a plea bargain involving two separate cases because he was not properly apprised of the elements in one case. Id. ¶ 1. However, the other case involved in the plea bargain was an entirely different charge with entirely different elements, so the circuit court concluded there that plea withdrawal was not warranted. Id. ¶ 8.

This Court affirmed, noting that while "Robinson . . . involved a legally defective plea that, if withdrawn, would have gutted the core agreement. Here, by contrast, withdrawing the defective plea leaves Roou with one less conviction and in the same position sentence-wise." *Id.* ¶ 17. Because allowing Roou to withdraw one plea involving a defective colloquy was an appropriate remedy where the other case involved did not suffer the same deficiency, this Court upheld the circuit court's decision, declaring again that "the appropriate remedy in such cases

depends upon the totality of the circumstances and a consideration of the parties' interests." Id. ¶ 1.

That is precisely what happened here. Just as in *Roou*, Bowser entered pleas to separate counts, then attempted to withdraw those pleas. And just as in *Roou*, the basis for his plea withdrawals only applied to one of the cases, i.e., Schiffer's recantations. In the 16-CF-11 case, the parties were restored to their original positions, with Bowser being allowed to withdraw his plea and facing a trial where he would be found guilty or not guilty. The State is also in the same position it was prior to the plea: it was required to prove Bowser's guilt on all counts, but retained the knowledge that Bowser would be exposed to substantially more incarceration if he were convicted on all of those counts. Thus, the State did not retain any "benefit" without also incurring a cost: the need to now prove Bowser's guilt at a trial.

Schiffer had no involvement at all in the controlled buy underlying Bowser's conviction in the 16-CF-189 case because a "separate [unidentified confidential informant]" conducted the March 2016 controlled buy. (See R. 46:59.) As the circuit court recognized, "I do not see that there's any basis in the record to allow Mr. Bowser to withdraw his pleas in 16-CF-189. Those were separate incidents, separate informant, and I don't believe that there's been any testimony here today from which I can make a finding that there's a fair and just reason for Mr. Bowser to withdraw his plea in that file." (R. 46:69.) Thus, the circuit court concluded that Bowser did not carry his burden in this case to prove a "fair and just reason' for withdrawal of the plea by a preponderance of the evidence" Garcia, 192 Wis. 2d at 862.

The circuit court is correct: the facts as alleged in Bowser's motion for plea withdrawal had nothing to do with the March 2016 controlled buy underlying Bowser's charges in the 16-CF-189 case, so no "fair and just" reason exists to allow withdrawal in that case.

Thus, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying Bowser's motion for plea withdrawal as to the 16-CF-189 case but not 16-CF-11. Because Bowser's motion did not establish any "fair and just reason" to allow him to withdraw his plea in that case, and because the State and Bowser both performed their respective duties as defined in their plea agreement, the circuit court correctly fashioned a "remedy" that fit "all of the circumstances of a case . . . considering both the defendant's [interests] and the State's." Robinson, 249 Wis. 2d 553, ¶ 48. That it did not find a basis to allow Bowser to withdraw his plea in the 16-CF-189 case does not mean the circuit court "misunderstood" the nature of the agreement. It simply means that the two cases were only bound together because of their similarities and for ease of resolution by a plea bargain. Indeed, allowing Bowser wholesale plea withdrawal in both cases when the facts brought to bear in his motion only involved one of them makes no sense, as the circuit court recognized. (R. 46:69.)

Bowser claims that the whole plea agreement should be invalidated because he was allowed to withdraw his plea in the 16-CF-11 case that was resolved along with the 16-CF-189 case in the plea agreement. (Bowser's Br. 10–13.) Bowser also contends that the circuit court "misunderstood" the interconnected nature of his plea bargain with the State. (Bowser's Br. 8.)

Bowser is wrong. First, the pleas were connected only in the sense that they were taken at the same time. While the underlying cases both involved heroin sales, they occurred on separate occasions, involved separate confidential informants and had their own separate plea offers. This was not a situation where there was one plea offer which involved one sentence recommendation covering all the offenses to which Bowser had pled. Rather, each case had a separate plea offer involving its own sentence recommendation. Therefore, a withdrawal of one plea had no effect on the recommendation for the other case.

Even if the pleas had been part of a "global agreement," as explained above, the court could nevertheless exercise its discretion and allow only a partial withdrawal if as here, the circumstances warranted it. And that is exactly what the court did.

Bowser also argues that in the event he is not allowed to withdraw his pleas in both cases, he will not receive the benefit of his bargain. (Bowser's Br. 11–12.) Specifically, he contends that if he is allowed to withdraw his plea in only 16-CF-11, he will then be exposed to additional convictions and prison time for the charges which would otherwise have been dismissed and read in. *Id.* And, he points out that the state will retain the convictions in 16-CF-189 as well as the opportunity to convict him of the four counts in 16-CF-11. He characterizes the situation as the state retaining all the benefits at no cost. Id. This is simply untrue as it ignores the fact Bowser the state will again have the burden of going through the time and expense of proving Bowser's guilt on charges for which he had previously been convicted – and Bowser will have the opportunity to be tried and possibly acquitted of those charges, which he did not have before the withdrawal of his plea. The possibility he may still be convicted and get more time is something he presumably weighed before he breached the agreement by withdrawing his plea. But that was his decision, not the state's.

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